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Author’s Note



When I first met her at a press conference in the spring of 1983, Madonna Louise Ciccone – twenty-four at the time – struck me as brash, cocky, petulant and self-indulgent. Never one to put on an act for a journalist, she was just what she was – and without hesitation. ‘Look, I never had money,’ she told me of her early, struggling days in New York. ‘Each month it was a scramble to pay the rent and get some food in the apartment. I literally had to eat out of garbage cans in those days. Now that I have a record out and it looks like it’ll be a success, hell yeah, I feel like I deserve it,’ she concluded. She fixed her hazel eyes on me. ‘People don’t know how good I am yet,’ she said, holding me with her gaze. ‘But they will soon. In a couple of years everyone will know. Actually,’ she concluded, ‘I plan on being one of this century’s biggest stars.’


‘And with no last name?’ I asked, uncertain that ‘Madonna’ was even her real name. (Surely, it couldn’t have been.)


‘It’s Madonna,’ she snapped. ‘Just like Cher. Remember it.’


It was difficult to argue with her, mostly because she wouldn’t hear of it. Poor thing, I thought. Let her have her illusions. No reigning beauty she, and – judging from her first record – equipped with only a fair voice, yet she thinks she’s going to become a dominant influence in pop music, a big star. Well, we’ll see . . .


Of course, it didn’t take long for Madonna’s prediction to come true.


Everything she is today has been hard earned. With nothing ever handed to her on the proverbial silver platter, her life and career have been built on single-mindedness of intention, the most exhausting work (in recording studios, on movie and video sound stages, and on concert tours), dogged determination and, often, unmerciful and extreme sacrifice. In the years since that first interview, Madonna went on to become one of the most memorable, celebrated and highest-paid women in show business . . . and to think that I doubted her resolve.


I first began the challenge of writing this book in 1990, but decided to put it away for a few years. I thought then that Madonna should have an opportunity to do more living before I, as her biographer, would be able to do her story justice. Though she was already one of the most famous people on the planet, it takes more than just the accurate documentation of a person’s celebrity to make for a good character study. Most subjects need time for evolution and personal growth before their stories are ripe enough to commit to paper. At the time, Madonna was in an ambitious, self-involved phase during which nothing mattered more to her than her career.


When I picked up work on this book again in 1994, I felt the same way about her. She had prioritized her life – career first, above all else – and would still do almost anything to get to a certain point of creative freedom and financial security. I anticipated that when she was finally satisfied with her career, she would begin to work on her life. Happily, just such a personal evolution began to occur in 1996 when she had Lourdes, her first child.


In 2001, I went back to this book and ultimately finished it and had it published. At that time, I saw that Madonna had greater concerns than just the next big public relations spectacle in her career – especially since giving birth to another child, a brother for Lourdes, named Rocco. She had grown, changed and transformed herself (again) and, this time, in a way that had not only inspired me to want to write about her, but admire her as well. Yes, she was still driven, still ambitious and still self-involved – that hadn’t changed. She was still Madonna, after all, an artist of calculation known for inventing and reinventing her image, usually for the purpose of publicity. However, as I saw it back in 2001, she was also shedding certain layers, slowly revealing who she really is as a person, as a woman.


Here’s what I wrote in the original edition of this book:




Affluent, powerful and famous people like Madonna are, generally, different from most other people – at once more and less human, they’re walking paradoxes, thoughtful and inconsiderate, generous and parsimonious, disciplined and uncontrolled, self-denigrating and self-important. While it may not always be easy to find the real Madonna amidst the hocus-pocus of public relations she manufactures to hide her true self, she’s there just the same. In pursuit of her, one only has to be perceptive enough to look beyond the thick smoke, away from the confusing mirrors. There hides the real woman. As I found in the years of researching and then finally writing Madonna: An Intimate Biography, finding her is worth the effort.





I still feel that way, all these years later. Since 2001, I have written a number of addendums to this book as Madonna’s life story has evolved, the last edition being back in 2008 when she turned fifty and was still married to Guy Ritchie. Now, ten years later, here we are in 2018 and Madonna is about to turn sixty. Yes, you read that right: Madonna is about to turn sixty. That seems hard to believe, doesn’t it? I think this milestone represents great success for her, though, because with the passing of the years she has only changed for the better. I would also argue that if we are at sixty what we were at twenty, something in our lives has gone seriously off the rails. Just like, hopefully, all of us, Madonna continues to evolve, be creative and be philanthropic, while at the same time working toward what sometimes seems like an elusive goal of simple happiness.


While she’s still the ballsy person she’s always been, she’s obviously smarter than she was in her rabble-rousing youth. She now at least knows how to pick and choose her battles. She doesn’t waste time on pettiness and, like most of us, realizes the clock is ticking and that there’s no time like the present to not only be happy but maybe even find a way to be of service to others.


Of course, she’s still Madonna, and some of her decisions tend to baffle her critics, such as the penchant she has for young men – very young men. We’re talking men young enough to be her children and – dare I say it? – maybe even her grandchildren. Her boyfriends since her divorce from Guy have been in their early to mid-twenties. She knows what she likes, she has a ‘type’, in other words, and why shouldn’t she? After all, she’s been used to having pretty much everything else her way for a very long time. Such entitlement comes with being a star, and if anyone doesn’t think she’s given her all to that endeavour since she was just a kid, that would be a person who hasn’t been paying much attention. Can we really begrudge her a sexy, young partner? (Would we be as critical of an older man with a much younger woman?) Even if just for the sheer entertainment value of it all, I say more power to her. As long as she can rope them in, good for her. She’s earned it.


I have never stopped writing about Madonna since that day I first met her thirty-five years ago. Countless magazine and newspaper articles about her have carried my byline, not to mention new editions of this book all over the world. She remains one of the most fascinating women on the planet. I’m proud to be one of her biographers.


You should know that this isn’t just an update of my original book; it’s also a reconstructing of it. As you read it, you’ll find that I have a few different thoughts and opinions to some of those I had almost twenty years ago. Therefore, stories on these pages may vary a little in viewpoint from what I wrote back in the day. I have also added a number of tales I think are now relevant to her history.


In the end, one thing remains constant, and that’s the fierce, defiant and unapologetic character at the centre of all of it . . . and long may she live.


J. RANDY TARABORRELLI


Los Angeles, May 2018
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The Actress and the President



Perhaps the last place Madonna’s fans would ever have expected to find her was crouched on the floor of a car racing down a bustling Buenos Aires street. Her destination: the home of the President of Argentina, Carlos Menem. It was Wednesday, 7 February 1996 – just another day in the extraordinary life of Madonna Louise Veronica Ciccone, a woman whose life has been nothing if not unpredictable.


While huddling on the floor of a black Spanish-made car, Madonna was being smuggled to meet the President. Her own rented Mercedes-Benz – surrounded by police on motorcycles – had successfully been used as a decoy moments earlier, confusing the ever-stalking paparazzi who had followed it in hopes of capturing on film whatever they believed Madonna was going to be doing that day, probably shopping. If only they had known the true nature of her plans; that would have been a real story.


From the day she arrived in Buenos Aires, Madonna had not been pleased with what she found there: an orchestrated political campaign in opposition of her movie, Evita. Much to her dismay, it seemed that everywhere she looked she saw graffiti sprayed on walls, all with sentiments such as: ‘Chau goodbye Madonna’, and ‘Evita Lives! Get Out, Madonna!’ Many of those living in Argentina believed that Madonna would desecrate the memory of their beloved Santa Evita. They feared that Evita, as painted by the flagrant Madonna, would be an insult to her memory – and for no good reason other than the fact that Madonna would be the one essaying the role. Perhaps making matters worse for everyone on the Evita project was the fact that director Alan Parker’s cast and crew were comprised mostly of British workers; the 1982 war between Argentina and Britain over the Falkland Islands remained a sticking point for many Argentinians.


Though a replica of the balcony at Casa Rosada, the presidential residence in Argentina, was recreated for the movie at great expense in London, Madonna had longed to film the climax of the movie (when Evita sings ‘Don’t Cry For Me, Argentina’) at the actual location. Standing on the exact site at which Evita gave some of her most dramatic appearances would, no doubt, fill Madonna with genuine emotion, thereby enhancing her performance immeasurably. Originally, Menem had granted the film company permission to film at public buildings such as the Casa Rosada. However, because of the public outcry and controversy, he abruptly changed his mind. He now decreed that locations originally scheduled to be used as sites for filming were off limits.


President Menem, Madonna noted, ‘was setting the tone for everything’ that was, in her view, ruining her movie. ‘He made statements indicating that he agreed the film was an outrage,’ she said angrily. (‘I don’t see Madonna in the role,’ he had observed to Time magazine. ‘And I don’t think Argentina’s people, who see Evita as a true martyr, will tolerate it.’)


It seemed clear that no producer, director or studio executive would be able to change the President’s mind. This was a task that would have to be left to the lady herself, the movie’s star. It was another one of those times in Madonna’s career when a ‘handler’ would not be able to do her bidding, when she would have to do something herself in order for it to be done to her satisfaction.


Madonna had met Constancio Vigil, a close friend of Menem’s, who attempted to arrange a meeting between the star and the President. Menem, however, said that he wasn’t interested in meeting Madonna; he refused to see her. Chagrined by his snub, she would not take ‘no’ for an answer.


After much negotiating, the President relented and agreed to talk with Madonna, but only under the condition that the public not be made aware of the meeting – hence the clandestine manner of her journey on the floor of a car. ‘He didn’t want people to think he was speaking with the enemy,’ explained one government official. When this stipulation was reported to Madonna, she was disappointed by it but also understood that it was the only way she would be able to meet the President. She would simply have to refrain from doing what she, a master public relations strategist, probably really wanted to do: set up a press conference to announce that she and the President were about to engage in a face-to-face meeting.


Before she would sit down with Menem, it was only natural for Madonna to want to do a certain amount of research. A voracious reader, she asked for material about Menem which she would review prior to the meeting so that she could better understand his life and political career. As she put it to one of her associates, ‘I want to know who he is. He certainly knows who I am.’


Through her research, Madonna would learn that sixty-six-year-old Carlos Saul Menem was the first Peronist ever elected to national office in Argentina. He was elected governor of La Rioja in 1973, the year Juan Domingo Perón engineered his political comeback. Jailed in 1976 when his wife, Isabel, was forced from power, he was released in 1981. He was re-elected governor in 1983 and again in 1987.


From his early career as provincial governor, Menem rose to the presidency by preaching Peronist politics, the nationalistic style of government formulated by Juan and Eva Perón, which sought to reconcile the interests of industry, business, labour and the poor. Menem’s personal charisma and dramatic oratorial style had won him the presidential election in 1989. That election also represented the first transfer of power from one constitutionally elected party to another since 1928. A Roman Catholic convert, Menem was divorced with children. ‘Divorced, huh?’ Madonna remarked. ‘Finally, something we have in common. We’re both sinners . . . divorced Catholics.’


When it was clear that they had evaded the press, Madonna and Constancio Vigil were driven to an airport and then flown by helicopter to an offshore island in the middle of the delta in El Tigre. They swooped low, flying directly over what was clearly a large estate in the direction of a nearby small airport. Madonna watched as rolling, green hills flattened out, making way for a concrete landing strip. The helicopter dropped gently.


As soon as Madonna and her friend disembarked, a dignified, elderly, casually dressed man appeared before them. He bowed deeply. They were then escorted to a nearby Land Rover and driven to opulent grounds owned by a business associate of Menem’s. There, surrounded by pink flamingos, as if in some magical fairy tale, Madonna would find the President of Argentina waiting for her. It was six p.m.


According to some of his aides, President Carlos Menem had been determined not to be impressed by Madonna. However, like many men before him who had tried to resist Madonna, Menem’s cool reserve melted away almost immediately upon meeting her. According to a photograph of her taken that day, she was dressed in a Thirties-style ensemble that was perfectly appropriate for the moment: a black crocheted cotton cardigan and a knee-length silk dress splashed with red, black and white. With black and white leather t-strap pumps on her feet, a sequined tulle clutch bag in one hand and what appeared to observers to be antique French ruby earrings, she looked as if she had just stepped out of a 1930s film. Because her hair was pulled into a chignon and then covered by a Thirties-style black horsehair hat with grey lace overlay, it was difficult to tell if she was blonde or brunette.


As Madonna stood serenely before Menem, perhaps trying to maintain her composure (she would later admit she was nervous), the President began to compliment her profusely. First, he told her that he was amazed at how much she resembled Eva Perón, whom he had met as a young man. Madonna was flattered. She never expected such a compliment from the President of Argentina and, as she would later say, she couldn’t help but feel ‘ten feet tall’.


It was going well. They walked through a large courtyard. In the middle of a paved quadrant stood a huge carved fountain on which life-sized, bronze sea horses pranced among stone mermaids, octopuses and jellyfish. As they walked by it, Madonna couldn’t resist dangling her fingers into the cool water. ‘I need one of these in my backyard,’ she joked.


As soon as they were seated in the centre of a lovely brick patio, maids and butlers swarmed all about, offering wine and cheese. Then, an attractive and formal looking female interpreter walked over and introduced herself to Madonna. She indicated that she would be assisting in the event of any awkward communication between the actress and the President. While the interpreter spoke, Madonna noticed the President’s eyes going ‘over every inch of me’, as she would later recall, ‘looking right through me’. She found him to be ‘a very seductive man’.


Once relaxed in her wicker chair, Madonna quickly took stock of Menem, just as he had of her. She noted his tan, his small feet, the fact that he dyed his hair black. She also noted that he could not take his eyes off her.


As ravenous mosquitoes descended upon them, Madonna and the President – followed by his aides – retreated into a parlour furnished with expensive antiques; Madonna was unsure about their age and would later say she thought it ‘uncouth’ to enquire. In the parlour, the owner of the estate in which the meeting was taking place suddenly appeared with a bottle of chilled champagne in one hand and a small tray of caviar and crackers in the other. After sampling the caviar, Madonna slipped a cassette tape into a player she had brought with her. The song on the tape was ‘You Must Love Me’, a new ballad from the Evita cast album, which Madonna, as Evita, sings when she learns that she is near death. It’s an emotionally involving performance, and one of which she was most proud.


Fixing him with a stare to gauge his reaction, Madonna watched Menem rock back and forth, his eyes closed, as her voice filled the room. He then leaned back in his chair and put his hands behind his head as he continued to listen intently. When the song was over, he had tears in his eyes. As Madonna had hoped, the President had been moved. With the moment just right, Madonna then began what she would later refer to as her ‘spiel’.


‘I so want to make this movie,’ she told him, her tone passionate. Small television cameras, mounted on the walls and swivelling soundlessly, recorded her pitch. The interpreter translated as Madonna continued: ‘I promise you that it will be fair. I want to be respectful to Eva’s memory. You must understand that my intention is good.’ She seemed filled with emotion. ‘It’s all about intention, you know?’ she continued. ‘And mine is a good one, I promise you.’


‘Somehow, I think I believe you,’ Menem said as he slowly inched closer to his guest. He reached out and patted her hand, seeming happy to be in the company of an attractive and intelligent woman. Madonna smiled warmly, just a little seductively . . . but not too seductively. When she leaned forward, he did the same. While this flirtatious moment was an interesting turn of events, it was not unexpected.


According to one eyewitness – the two were never left alone but were always in the company of a cluster of Menem’s aides – Madonna met Menem’s gaze with her own. ‘You know, you’re a very handsome man,’ she told him. He didn’t need an interpretation to understand the compliment.


‘I caught Menem looking at my bra strap, which was showing ever so slightly,’ she would later recall. ‘He continued doing this throughout the evening with his piercing eyes. When I caught him staring, his eyes stayed with mine.’


Over dinner, Madonna and the President talked about their lives and careers and, as Madonna later recalled, ‘our passions’. They spoke of music, politics, mysticism and reincarnation. It must have been difficult for Madonna to come to terms with her circumstances, with how far she had come from her struggling days as a Detroit singer with a New York band called the Breakfast Club. Perhaps it would have been difficult for some observers to reconcile this woman who seemed to possess such a flare for diplomacy with the one who, when she finally did become famous, was often viewed as a temperamental and ridiculously sex-starved pop star. Now, she was the perfect combination of sexuality and brains. But, of course, she had always been just that.


‘One always has to have faith in things that cannot be explained,’ the President told her as they discussed Catholicism. ‘Like God. And the fact that miracles can happen.’


Madonna seized the moment. ‘Yes,’ she agreed. ‘And that’s why I believe that you will change your mind and allow us to film on the balcony of the Casa Rosada.’


He smiled warmly. ‘Anything is possible,’ he said, nodding. ‘Anything is possible.’


Five hours passed. It was eleven o’clock. The President took Madonna’s face in his hands and kissed her on both cheeks. ‘I wish you great luck with your film,’ he told her, speaking in English.


‘But will you help me?’ she asked.


‘As I said,’ he answered, smiling, ‘anything is possible.’ With old-world courtesy, he helped her to her feet. Then he stood at the front door and waved goodbye as Madonna and Constancio were driven away.


Once at the airport, Constancio guided Madonna by the arm across the tarmac to a red and white helicopter whose rotor was already beginning to turn. Soon, they were heading back to the city.


Madonna later said she felt swollen with pride over her accomplishment. ‘We flew away,’ she recounted, ‘and I was floating inside the cabin the whole way home. He had worked his magic on me. I only hoped I did the same.’


Less than two weeks later, the Ministry of Culture contacted the film’s production company. A second meeting – this time formal and public – was organized and attended by President Menem, Madonna, Alan Parker and two other stars of the movie, Jonathan Pryce (the Tony award-winning actor from the musical Miss Saigon who had now been hired to portray Juan Perón) and Antonio Banderas (Ché, the film’s narrator). At that meeting, Menem gave his blessing to Evita by making available to the film all government buildings previously off limits – including Madonna’s cherished Casa Rosada.







   

Restless Child


Just who is this person so capable of charming the president of a country into doing something he had no intention of doing, and doing it her way? What is it about this woman – an entertainer who isn’t uncommonly beautiful and, while talented, is perhaps not phenomenally so – that has kept her on the top rung of the show-business ladder as the very symbol of success and glamour for more than thirty years? Always comfortable and confident within her limitations, in her 1991 documentary film In Bed with Madonna she noted, ‘I know I’m not the best singer or dancer in the world. I know that. But I’m not interested in that, either. I’m interested in pushing buttons.’


In the ensuing years since her original success in 1983, many journalists have gone back and explored her past, looking for keys to the mystery of Madonna. However, in her ordinary beginnings there was little to suggest what lay ahead for Madonna Louise Veronica Ciccone.


‘I get nostalgic for a time in my life before I was an empire,’ Madonna said in September 2000 during an online chat with customers of the Internet server AOL. Like many people who become famous, before she was ‘an empire’ Madonna just wanted to be a star. A driving, burning ambition to be famous seemed to be born within her, just a part of who she was at the core. When, in fact, she did realize her dream, one of her most celebrated remarks would be ‘I have the same goal I’ve had since I was a little girl. I want to rule the world.’


Though half French Canadian, Madonna seems to most identify with the other half, her Italian heritage. ‘Io sono fiera di essere Italiana’ (‘I’m proud to be an Italian’) she told an audience of 65,000 fans at the Turin football stadium when she performed in Italy in the summer of 1987. Her Italian roots date back to the 1800s in the Abruzzi province of Pacentro. Her paternal great grandfather, Nicola Pietro Ciccone, was born in Pacentro in 1867. At the age of twenty-six, he married Anna Maria Mancini, also from Pacentro. In 1901, they had a son, Gaetano, Madonna’s grandfather. Eighteen years later, Gaetano married a woman named Michelina (there seems to be no record of her surname), also from the local village. Shortly thereafter, the couple immigrated to the United States, settling in the Aliquippa suburb of Pittsburgh. Unable to speak English, they forged their way in their new country, Gaetano working in the steel mills of Pittsburgh. They had their first child, Mario, in 1930 and then, four years later, their second son, Silvio – nicknamed Tony – Madonna’s father. Four more children, all boys, would be born over the course of the next six years.


Of all the boys, Silvio was the most aggressive, the most intelligent and the most determined to carve his own niche in life; he was the only child to graduate from college with a degree. After graduation, Silvio met and fell in love with a beautiful French-Canadian woman from Bay City, Michigan with the unusual name of Madonna Fortin. Though engaged to another man at the time, Madonna was attracted to Silvio’s strong charisma and dark good looks and soon she accepted his proposal of marriage. They married in 1955 at Bay City’s Visitation Church. After settling in a small brick home at 443 Thors Street in Pontiac, Michigan – twenty-five miles north-west of Detroit – Tony took a job as an engineer at Chrysler Automotive Corporation.


Madonna Fortin Ciccone gave birth to the couple’s first child, Anthony, on 4 May, 1956. Another son, Martin, was born a year later, on 9 August. While visiting her mother, Elsie Fortin, in Bay City, the again-expectant Madonna Fortin Ciccone gave birth, on 16 August 1958, to her first daughter, Madonna Louise (nicknamed ‘Nonnie’ by her parents) at Bay City Mercy Hospital. She would give birth to three more children over the next three years: Paula, Christopher and Melanie.


‘I grew up in a really big family and in an environment where you had to get over it to be heard,’ Madonna once recalled. ‘I was like the she-devil. It was like living in a zoo. You had to share everything. I slept in a bed for years – not even a double bed – with two sisters.’ She also recalled, ‘I would even hurt myself, like burn my fingers deliberately, to get attention.’


‘She was spoilt from the very beginning,’ recalls her brother, Christopher. ‘She was the oldest girl, and was the one considered our parents’ favourite. That, combined with the fact that she was really aggressive and wanted her way, and got it, made her a spoilt kid. But she was good-hearted. She liked to take care of the bunch. She was also very bossy,’ he says. ‘Very bossy.’


While growing up, the young Madonna had always been a faithful fan of classic Hollywood and of its stars. At an early age, she somehow came to realize that many of the world’s greatest stars suffered through volatile, early lives rife with mystery and drama. A melodramatic child, she seemed to understand the importance of legend. Years later, Madonna seemed to want to give the impression in interviews that she came from a lower-income family – perhaps hoping to capitalize on the ‘good copy’ value of the so-called classic rags-to-riches story. While this was apparently the kind of history she wished to claim for herself – one in which she had to overcome great childhood traumas and obstacles before she could ever think of attaining success – it wasn’t true.


In truth, her father Silvio was never out of work. He did well, even with the responsibility of so many children and the financial burden inherent in such a large family. Madonna always lived a healthy, middle-class existence.


‘Ours was a strict, old-fashioned family,’ she has said. ‘When I was tiny, my grandmother used to beg me to go to church with her, to love Jesus and be a good girl. I grew up with two images of women: the virgin and the whore.’


As a young girl, Madonna was particularly close to her mother. The two Madonnas shared an intense and special affection, and throughout her career daughter would always speak of mother with great tenderness. ‘She was beautiful,’ Madonna once recalled, ‘and very loving and devoted to her children. Very children-oriented.’ Her earliest childhood memories, she has said, are happy ones because they revolved around her mother, whom she has also called ‘forgiving and angelic’.


‘When I was four and younger, I remember not being able to sleep at night,’ Madonna remembers. ‘I would walk to my parents’ bedroom and push the door open. They were both asleep in bed and I think I must have done this a lot, gone in there, because they both sat up in bed and said, “Oh no, not again!” And I said, “Can I get into bed with you?” My father was against me getting into bed with them. Yet, I remember getting into bed and rubbing against my mother’s really beautiful, red, silky nightgown . . . and going to sleep – just like that. I always went to sleep right away when I was with them. I felt really lonely and forlorn, even though my brothers and sisters were in my room with me. So, I wanted to sleep with my parents. To me, that was heaven, to sleep in between my parents.’


Madonna’s older brother, Martin, remembers her as a restless, rambunctious child. Though there was the usual sibling rivalry between them, little Nonnie never let her older brother intimidate her. From an early age, Madonna didn’t like anyone getting the better of her, and – no surprise – also hated to be told what to do and how to behave, even by her parents. ‘When I was a child, I always thought that the world was mine,’ she has explained, ‘that it was a stomping ground for me, full of opportunities. I always had the attitude that I was going to go out into the world and do all the things I wanted to do, whatever that was.’


Certainly no child likes to be given rules but, repeatedly, people from Madonna’s past remark on her particularly rebellious nature as a child. She herself often talks about the defiant personality she possessed from an early age. She started out, and would remain, outspoken about people and matters that rubbed her up the wrong way – even well-meaning children. For instance, one of Madonna’s earliest memories is of sitting in her parents’ front yard in Michigan, punished by her father as a result of some youthful misdeed. A two-year-old neighbour, wanting to befriend the adorable little girl, waddled up to Madonna and presented her with a dandelion she had picked. Madonna’s response was to stand up, face the child, and then push her to the ground. ‘My first instinct,’ Madonna said years later, ‘was to lash out at someone who was more helpless than I. I saw in her innocent eyes the chance to get back at authority.’ The fact that the young visitor offered up a dandelion apparently did not help matters for her. The adult Madonna would go on to explain that she detested dandelions because ‘they’re weeds that run rampant and I like things that are cultivated’.


Even though she was the third of six children, Madonna soon learned how to keep a certain amount of attention focused upon her. For instance, she would use certain tricks inspired by the movies she voraciously watched on television in order to remain the focal point in a busy household – such as jumping on top of a table at a moment’s notice and performing a Shirley Temple-type number. At the end of her little impromptu act, she would add ‘a personal touch’ – she would lift up her dress and flash her panties. This bit of naughtiness was always a success, delighting everyone, young and old. The youngster seemed to be learning that a little flash, mixed with a bit of exhibitionism, could go a long way towards pleasing people. Of course, years later, the adult Madonna would combine these talents to great effect in her professional career.


As is well known by now, the defining moment of Madonna’s childhood – the one that would have the most influence in shaping her into the woman she would become – was the tragic and untimely death of her beloved mother at just thirty years of age.


After her mother was diagnosed with breast cancer, little Nonnie and her siblings watched as she slowly wasted away over a period of about a year. Many months before her mother died, however, five-year-old Nonnie began to notice changes in her behaviour and personality, although she didn’t understand the serious reasons for such changes. Her mother had always been greatly attentive to detail as a homemaker, but after her diagnosis she grew tired easily and was unable to keep up with housework she had previously maintained with such diligence. Madonna has remembered her mother sitting exhausted on the couch in the middle of the afternoon. The young girl, wanting to play with her mother, just as she always had in the past, would jump on her back; her mother, too tired to move, would be dismissive. The youngster – sensing that something frightening was in the offing – would respond by pounding angrily on her mother’s back and sobbing, ‘Why are you doing this? Stop being this way! Be who you used to be. Play with me!’


Madonna’s mother was, no doubt, at a loss to explain to her frightened daughter the reality of her dire medical condition. Probably scared and helpless, she would just begin to cry, at which point her daughter would respond by wrapping her arms around her tenderly. ‘I remember feeling stronger than she was,’ Madonna recalled. ‘I was so little and yet I felt like she was the child. I stopped tormenting her after that. I think it made me grow up fast.’


Eventually Madonna’s mother had to be moved to a hospital. Once there, she attempted to maintain a cheery demeanour, always appearing upbeat for her visiting children and cracking jokes for them. Though she knew she was dying, she didn’t want her children to realize it. ‘I remember that right before she died she asked for a hamburger,’ Madonna has said. ‘She wanted to eat a hamburger because she couldn’t eat anything for so long. I thought that [she chose a hamburger for her meal] was very funny.’ Later that day, though, Madonna’s father broke the news to her that her mother was dead. At first, she couldn’t comprehend the enormity of the tragedy that had occurred and, as she put it, ‘I kept waiting for her to come back. We [she and her father] never really sat down and talked about it. I guess we should have.’


Madonna was just five when her mother died on 1 December 1963, and the impact this loss had on her is almost certainly immeasurable. She lost her mom at a time when, as a young girl, she was forming her personality, her ideals. She needed a mother then, and she would need her ever more.


One theory about childhood loss is that the earlier the age the more profound the influence and the longer lasting the impact. Five is a formative age. A child of five could feel victimized by events, and maybe even think that he or she should have been able to influence them in some way. Certainly, the anger Madonna would feel at losing her mother would be extremely difficult for a five-year-old to handle. Some people never reconcile themselves to such a loss at so early an age, at least not without a great deal of therapy.


After she became famous, Madonna would say, ‘We are all wounded in one way or another by something in our lives, and then we spend the rest of our lives reacting to it or dealing with it or trying to turn it into something else’. For Madonna, the anguish of losing her mother ‘left me with a certain kind of loneliness and an incredible longing for something’. She has also said, ‘If I hadn’t had that emptiness, I wouldn’t have been so driven. Her death had a lot to do with me saying – after I got over my heartache – I’m going to be really strong if I can’t have my mother. I’m going to take care of myself.’


As they grew older, Madonna and her sisters would feel deep sadness as the vivid memory of their mother began drifting further from them. They’d study pictures of her and would come to think that she resembled Anne Sexton, the 1960s Pulitzer Prize-winning poet who wrote about depression and suicide in books like To Bedlam and Part Way Back and Live or Die. This may have led to Madonna’s intense interest in poetry. (Madonna has also cited Sylvia Plath as a poet she admires – an intellectual reference that goes beyond most people’s image of Madonna as being shallow. Actually, many of her songs have roots in art, poetry, philosophy and different religions.)


Not only did the young Madonna learn to take care of herself, she also cared for her brothers and sisters. As the oldest girl, she was happy to take on the maternal role with her siblings. In fact, her brother Martin remembers that Madonna not only fed the younger children but she always made sure that they were properly dressed for school. ‘I didn’t resent having to raise my brothers and sisters as much as I resented the fact that I didn’t have my mother,’ Madonna confirmed. Actually, she didn’t have to raise her siblings alone since her father did hire a series of housekeepers . . . all of whom eventually ended up quitting rather than having to endure the behaviour of the unruly Ciccone brood. Madonna and her siblings invariably rebelled against anyone brought into the home ostensibly to take the place of their beloved mother. If it meant she could keep other women out of her father’s life (and have him to herself), Madonna was happy to continue in the role of surrogate mother. ‘Like all young girls,’ Madonna would say, ‘I was in love with my father and I didn’t want to lose him. I lost my mother, but then I was my mother . . . and my father was mine.’


‘I see a very lonely girl who was searching for something,’ she once said in an interview with Vanity Fair in describing her youth. ‘Looking for a mother figure. I wasn’t rebellious in a conventional way; I cared about being good at something. I didn’t shave under my arms and I didn’t wear make-up. But I studied hard and got good grades. Rarely smoked pot, though I’m sure I did from time to time. I was a paradox, an outsider and rebel who wanted to please my father and get straight As. I wanted to be somebody.’


The death of her mother had left such deep emotional scars on her, the young Madonna was terrified that she would lose her father, too. As she had done a couple of years earlier with both her parents, she would now crawl into bed in the middle of the night with just her father. The young girl suffered constantly from recurring nightmares and it was only with the assurance that her father was with her could she fall soundly and safely asleep. In time, no doubt because of the devastation she felt, she would never again allow herself to feel as abandoned as she had felt when her mother died. Madonna would have to remain strong for herself because, from an early age, she feared weakness – particularly her own.







   

Confusing Times


In 1966, three years after the death of Madonna’s mother, Tony Ciccone became romantically involved with Joan Gustafson, one of the Ciccone’s many housekeepers. Much to Madonna’s resentment, the two were soon married. It was, perhaps, at this time that Madonna began to express unresolved feelings of anger towards her father that would last for decades.


Repeatedly, biographies about Madonna have proffered the notion that, because of her mother’s death, Madonna has always yearned for her father’s approval, and that his apparent lack of approval was the source of ongoing tension between father and daughter. It’s true that Tony Ciccone’s lack of understanding of Madonna’s artistic vision has certainly not enhanced their relationship over the years, and she has definitely sought his approval. However, a close study of Madonna’s life clearly shows that another factor in the instability in her emotional relationship with her father has to do with strong anger from her directed towards him. Tony’s courage in moving on with his life after his wife died did nothing to elevate him in the eyes of a daughter who felt strongly that her mother could – and should – never be replaced. Or, as one close relative put it, ‘It was as if, as a young girl, she was so filled with rage because of her mother’s death and the way her father handled it, she had to direct it somewhere . . . and so she directed it at the one person she loved the most, her father.’


Is it possible to be angry with a person and also to seek that person’s approval? Most mental health professionals would agree that major characteristics of the human experience are ambivalence and contradictory feelings. It’s entirely possible that Madonna was angry at her father for going on with his life after the death of his wife, but underneath that rage she still longed for his approval and acceptance. It was as if she put him to a test she knew he would fail: would Tony accept his daughter under her own terms, even if she acted outrageously? If not, she could continue to be angry at him. If so, she would find another reason to be resentful of him. Certainly, anger just continues to recycle itself until it’s finally dealt with, once and for all.


In contrast to Madonna’s gentle, olive-skinned mother, the stern, blonde Gustafson was a disciplinarian – or at least she tried to be one. None of the children ever listened to a thing she had to say. The young Madonna also seemed to have a difficult time adjusting to no longer being the female head of the household. She refused, for example, to refer to the new Mrs Ciccone as ‘Mother’, which her father had requested.


When Madonna’s career was just beginning to gain momentum in the early 1980s, she talked a great deal about how her life had changed when her father remarried. She didn’t hate her stepmother, she explained, she simply could never accept her in the place of her real mother. True to her sensational nature, Madonna would later embellish any tension between stepmother and stepchild for the press by saying she always felt unwanted and unneeded, ‘always like Cinderella’.


Madonna would also tell stories of how the new Mrs Ciccone once bloodied her nose in a physical altercation – although Madonna professed to be delighted by this turn of events since it enabled her to miss Sunday church for a change. (‘I most certainly do not remember that,’ Joan Gustafson Ciccone once said. ‘It never happened. Do you think her father would have allowed such a thing?’) Another indignity often recounted by Madonna is that her stepmother supposedly refused to let her wear a tampon when she started menstruating (which, according to Madonna, occurred at the age of ten) because, in Joan’s opinion, tampons were the equivalent of sexual intercourse and should not be used until after marriage. (‘Oh my God! That never happened,’ an incredulous Joan said when she heard this story. ‘How awful! Did she say that? No, she did not say that. Did she?’)


According to Madonna, it seems that another major ‘wicked stepmother’ indignity perpetrated on her by Joan was that she insisted Madonna and her sisters dress in matching outfits, thereby stripping Madonna of the individuality she so valued. Wearing school uniforms was bad enough for Madonna, she said, but dressing exactly like her sisters was pure torture. (‘I never did that!’ Joan exclaimed when told of Madonna’s claim. ‘Why would I do that? Are we talking about the same Madonna here?’)


Even at this young age, Madonna was learning to be innovative with her wardrobe when attempting to assert her own personality – including wearing her clothes in an unconventional manner by ripping them or even turning them inside out once Joan wasn’t around. Madonna would also wear bright, tight pants or tie old rags in her messy hair – anything that would enable her to stand out from her younger sisters. (This quest for fashion individuality would carry itself into later years when Madonna found herself struggling in New York, trying to be a dancer. She would often dress flamboyantly, cutting up her leotard and holding it together only with safety pins. Then, as now, she remained fascinated with the idea of individuality.)


No matter how much Madonna might have resented the situation, it seemed that the new Mrs Ciccone was in her life to stay. Joan and Tony even went on to have two children together, Jennifer and Mario.


Tony Ciccone did his best to make sure his growing family stayed on the right track of life. A hardworking man, he tried to teach his children to follow in his footsteps and focus on their school lessons. There were rules to follow, he would tell them, and they were expected to live their lives within those rules. It was especially important to him that his children attend church regularly. ‘I wouldn’t call it strict, I’d call it conservative,’ Madonna said. ‘My father was a stern believer in excelling towards leadership. Maintaining a competitive edge. And be proud of yourself and do good in school and you will reap the rewards of your investment.’ Years later, Madonna recalled that her father would tape a ‘chore chart’ to the wall, assigning each child a task. She never forgot which chores appeared under her name: ‘Washing out the diaper pail. Defrosting the freezer. Raking the leaves. Washing the dishes. Babysitting. Vacuuming. Everything.’


Perhaps recognizing the obvious correlation between her ability to achieve success, keep a competitive edge and observe her father’s own work ethic, Madonna would often speak of Tony Ciccone with admiration: ‘One thing my father was with us was very solid,’ she has said. ‘Very dependable that way; he didn’t confuse me. He didn’t preach one thing and live his life another way. He always stuck to his word. He had a lot of integrity. And that consistency, especially not having a mother, was extremely important.’


Always, Madonna enjoyed reaping the rewards of hard work; she liked to win. Tony had a practice of awarding each of his children fifty cents for every A grade they received on their report card; Madonna always got the most As. She was naturally intelligent, a good student who always seemed to have an eye on the importance of preparing for her future. ‘That bitch never had to study,’ her brother Martin laughs. ‘Never. She got straight As. I used to get up there and study all the time but my mind wasn’t on it. I did it because I was supposed to, but I didn’t like it. She did it because she knew it would take her to the next phase.’ Madonna also remembered the rewards she received for her A grades and laughingly added, ‘I was really competitive and my brothers and sisters hated me for it. I made the most money every report card.’


As well as their academic studies and household chores, all of the Ciccone children were encouraged to play a classical instrument. Madonna was designated the piano, though she genuinely hated it. The neighbourhood in which she was raised was racially mixed and, with that cultural influence at work, she was more interested in the local Motown sound than she was in classical piano. Her idols were Diana Ross and the Supremes, Ronnie Spector and Stevie Wonder.


‘When I was a little girl, I wished I was black,’ she said. ‘I was living in Pontiac, Michigan, some twenty-five miles north-west of Detroit. All of my friends were black and all the music I listened to was black. I was incredibly jealous of all my black girlfriends because they could have braids in their hair that stuck up everywhere. So I would go through this incredible ordeal of putting wire in my hair and braiding it so that I could make my hair stick up.’


Madonna soon convinced her father to allow her to give up her boring piano lessons and, instead, take on more (for her) exciting activities, such as dance – tap and jazz – as well as baton twirling.


‘She was a smart girl, always motivated,’ remembers her stepmother, Joan. ‘Brilliant. Manipulative, I guess so. Yes. But you knew she would survive. You knew she would never be weak. And you were glad about that.’


It isn’t surprising, especially given the religious convictions Tony Ciccone shared with his late wife, that all the Ciccone children were educated at Catholic schools. In the Sixties, the strict rules and regulations of these parochial schools were stringently observed by the nuns in charge, many of whom used tactics that today would be considered child abuse.


‘They’d smack you around, for sure,’ Madonna has said. ‘It was an environment of fear, mixed with these contrasting images of the holy.’


In 1966, she had her First Communion and, when confirmed a year later, she added the name Veronica to her own birth name. ‘I took the name of Veronica,’ she explains, ‘because she wiped the face of Jesus. You weren’t supposed to help Jesus Christ while he was on his way to the Crucifixion. She was not afraid to step out and wipe the sweat off him and help him. So I liked her for doing that, and took her name. There was also Mary Magdalene,’ she says, when speaking of biblical women who had influenced her. ‘She was considered a fallen woman because she slept with men. But Jesus said it was okay. I think they probably got it on, Jesus and Mary Magdalene.’


Catholicism gave her a foundation of faith upon which, she has said, she was always able to fall back, even as an adult. However, the religion’s strong emphasis on the notions of guilt and forgiveness has, she’s said, ‘screwed up many a Catholic person. How many Catholics are in therapy, just trying to get over the idea of Original Sin. Do you know what it’s like to be told from the day you walk into school for the first time that you are a sinner, that you were born that way, and that that’s just the way it is? You’d have to be Catholic to understand it.’


Early in her career Madonna would playfully make use of religious icons as part of her sexy wardrobe and then distribute juicy comments to journalists, such as the oft-quoted ‘crucifixes are sexy because there’s a naked man on them’. This is an example of one of her most frequently used and successful ‘shock’ formulas: taking a respected, sacred image and imbuing it with completely inappropriate sexual connotations, thereby making even the mere thought of the total package completely taboo. She quickly found that making statements combining elements of religion and sex – such as ‘crucifixes are sensual because Jesus was so sexy, like a movie star, almost’ – was a successful recipe for controversy, got her noticed, and made people talk about her as a sexual revolutionary. While easy to prepare, after the second or third time, it was also a relatively transparent gimmick. Yet, since the public continued to act shocked, and even to express delight and amusement at her observations, Madonna repeated the formula often – on talk shows, in music videos and in some of her songs. (It wouldn’t be until nearly ten years into her career, when she published her steamy book Sex, that most people would catch on to what she was up to . . . and then begin to reject it.)


One story in her arsenal may or may not be true: ‘When I was a little girl, I was at church by myself on a Saturday afternoon going to confession. No one was there, and instead of going out the main entrance, I went through this vestibule off to the side with a swinging door. I opened the door a little bit, and there was this couple standing up, fucking in the church. I thought, “Oh my God!” and shut the door really fast. That’s the only sex I’ve seen in a church. Seems like a neat thing to do, though.’


In fact, many of Madonna’s tongue-in-cheek takes on Catholicism (which have been considered blasphemous by some more devout observers) have to do with an intense bitterness towards the church. She had such a strong feeling that the orthodoxy that surrounded her had let her down, she acted provocatively as a way of thumbing her nose at it. It appeared to some that she had rejected God because He had done a terrible thing to her – taking away her mother. Through the years, she seemed to continually dare Him to retaliate against her as she continued to act out in ways that could be considered, at least to a religious person, sacrilegious.


As an adult, Madonna would also blame the church’s stringent, puritanical, suffering-based teachings for many of the problems the Ciccone children experienced in life. ‘My older brothers were incredibly rebellious,’ she said. ‘They got into drugs and into trouble with the police. One of my brothers ran off and became a Moonie. Me? I became an overachiever. I had it programmed in my mind – “I don’t care if I have to live on the street, and I don’t care if I have to eat garbage. I’ll do it.”’


Adding to Madonna’s ambivalence about religion must have been the way she was influenced by the somewhat fanatical – and confusing – devotion she witnessed in her mother. ‘Catholicism is a very masochistic religion,’ the adult Madonna would declare. ‘And I saw my mother doing things that really affected me. She would kneel on uncooked rice and pray during Lent. She would sleep on wire hangers. She was passionately religious. Swooning with it, even. If my aunt came over my house and had jeans that zipped up front, my mother covered all the statues so that they couldn’t see such a display. She then turned the holy pictures towards the wall.’


When Madonna was about ten, the family moved to 2036 Oklahoma Street in Rochester Hills, Michigan, an affluent community not far from the exclusive Detroit suburb of Bloomfield Hills. It was then that she began to think she might one day like to become a nun. ‘I wanted a pious way of life,’ she told me in 1983. ‘But I was at odds with the whole thing. The more it repelled me, the more I wanted it, as if I was trying to conquer something. I think the church really screwed me up. It made me competitive. It made me afraid to fail. It caused all kinds of problems, some I probably don’t even know about. I’m actually afraid to go into hypnotherapy for fear of what I will learn about my Catholic upbringing!’


Indeed, her rebellious nature being what it was, she couldn’t help but turn against the moralistic and conservative school system. In the playground, for instance, the young Madonna would hang upside down from the monkey bars, acting oblivious to her ‘performance’ but quite intentionally making sure her underpants were exposed for the enjoyment of all the boys. Constantly, she was being chastised by the nuns for flashing her underwear.


Those nuns at St Andrew’s Elementary School were always a source of great fascination for Madonna. She would try to sneak glances at them through the convent windows to catch them in their informal, ‘natural’ setting. She wondered what they looked like sans habits and if, indeed, they even had hair. Childhood friend Carol Belager recalls peering through convent windows with Madonna.


‘Oh my God, they do have hair,’ Madonna whispered to Carol as the two girls spied on the unsuspecting Sister Mary Christina.


‘Let’s go now,’ Carol said, nervously.


‘No, she’s getting ready to strip,’ Madonna said, excitedly. ‘I want to see what she looks like naked.’


Carol pulled Madonna away before she had the opportunity to see her first nude nun.


These strange, humourless and immensely powerful nuns were, to the young Madonna, beautiful and mysterious. As an adult she would remember, ‘I saw them as really pure, disciplined, sort of above average people. They never wore any make-up and they had these really serene faces.’ Then, in typical Madonna fashion, she added for good measure, ‘Plus, they were very sexy.’


The ambivalence Madonna still feels for the teachings of the Catholic church is especially ironic given that it would seem that Catholicism did empower her with the ability to transcend her own insecurities. The philosophy encouraged her to confront moments of great self-weakness, those times when she suspected that she really wasn’t good enough, or talented enough, or pretty enough . . . those times when she most needed to fall back on a foundation of faith in order to conquer feelings of inadequacy. It also imbued her with the strict sense of self-discipline so necessary to challenge the many difficulties she would, no doubt, encounter on the road to stardom.


‘I don’t talk about it much,’ she said in another interview with me in 1985, ‘but, yes, I pray. I pray when things are going wrong, like most people, I guess. The key, I think, is to pray when things aren’t all screwed up. That’s when you know you have a relationship with God. Coming from a Catholic school, though, it’s so ingrained in me to pray, that now I do it without even thinking about it. To me, when I say, when I’m pissed off, “Oh my God”, well, that’s a prayer, in a sense. Even if people don’t agree with me that it’s a prayer, I don’t care. When you’re angry and you call out for God’s intercession, that’s a prayer. And, also, I tend to pray when there’s so much bullshit going on that I just need to stop and remind myself of the things I have to be grateful for. So, yes, I pray.’







   


Losing Her Virginity



Though feeling almost smothered by a strict religious environment, Madonna’s talent still somehow managed to blossom and, on occasion, she would find imaginative ways to unleash it. For instance, in a fifth-grade talent show, the eleven-year-old scandalized the school audience, and her father, when, clad only in a coat of fluorescent green paint and a revealing bikini, she did a knock-out imitation of a go-go-dancing Goldie Hawn (à la Hawn’s early performances on the classic television programme, Rowan & Martin’s Laugh-In). Madonna’s father smouldered at the sight of his pubescent daughter bumping and grinding for all to see. Afterward, he grounded her for two weeks. ‘I don’t know what she was thinking,’ he says today. ‘Besides the fact that she wanted to shock everyone.’


Once in Rochester Adams High School, Madonna found various activities with which she could keep herself in the public eye. As a cheerleader, she got a taste of what it was like to be in front of enthusiastic crowds. She then had the opportunity to test some of the tricks she had used as a child in front of her appreciative family, but on a bigger, and maybe even more critical, audience.


Karen Craven, who was on the cheerleading squad with Madonna, recalls the day the squad was to form a typical ‘human pyramid’ during a break in a game. Madonna ‘vaulted up to the top and did a little flip’, she remembers. A collective gasp of shock erupted from the crowd when the teenager’s skirt flew up. Guidance counsellor Nancy Ryan Mitchell recalls, ‘From a distance, it looked like she was nude. However, she was actually wearing a pair of flesh-coloured tights. It was shocking, I must say. But that was Madonna.


‘I remember that she would also dance vigorously during some of the plays she was in, using a lot of body movement. It was pretty controversial for the times. Her father wasn’t pleased. Anything she could do to shock people, that’s what she would do. But, to her credit, she was a bright student, involved in a Big Brother/Sister programme, a thespian group. She was very positive thinking. She was taking dancing lessons after school when a lot of other kids were drinking Cokes. She worked hard.’


Madonna was also involved in the theatre department, starring in productions such as My Fair Lady, Cinderella, The Wizard of Oz and Godspell. On the high-school stage, she would learn what it was like to please an audience, to stand in the spotlight and accept a crowd’s warm applause. ‘She liked it,’ says Clara Bonell, a former classmate. ‘I saw her in Godspell, and I remember that when the audience stood for the curtain call, she was crying. The sense of acceptance, I think now that this is what she most appreciated, most craved. I think she felt that she didn’t get it at home from her father, who was just not supportive at all, as I recall it. So, if she could get it from an audience, then that was good for her.’


Beverly Gibson, her drama teacher, adds, ‘When the spotlight came on her, she was pure magic. People paid attention to her; you couldn’t take your eyes off of her. You often hear about people who become famous being wallflowers. You hear their friends and teachers say, “Oh, I would never have expected her to become famous.” Not so with Madonna. There was no way she could ever be anything other than famous at something. I would watch her on stage with that vibrant personality and charisma, and think to myself, “Oh, my, it is inevitable, isn’t it?”’


‘In high school, Madonna was a nonconformist,’ says her former classmate Tanis Rozelle. ‘Unlike the other girls, she didn’t shave her armpits, and neither did her sister, Melanie. That was considered pretty weird. Both had thick tufts of hair growing out from underneath their armpits. It caused a minor controversy, but after a while people just accepted it. Madonna explained that she didn’t shave because she didn’t want to be a typical suburban American girl. She said she didn’t want to remove something from her body that was natural. It didn’t stop her from raising her arms high while cheering, even when she wore a sleeveless uniform,’ recalls Tanis. ‘And it certainly didn’t stop her from being popular with the boys. She was very pretty and the guys really liked her.’


It was during her first year in high school, at the age of fifteen in December 1973, when Madonna lost her virginity to seventeen-year-old Russell Long. Actually, she says she had some sexual encounters prior to this time when she was eight, but not intercourse. ‘All of my sexual experiences when I was young were with girls,’ she says. ‘I mean, we didn’t have those sleepover parties for nothing. I think that’s really normal, same sex experimentation. You get really curious and there’s your girlfriend, and she’s spending the night with you, and it happens.’


‘She wanted her first time having real sex to be something special,’ Russell Long now recalls. ‘We had a date – a movie and burgers – and afterward we drove my very cool, blue 1966 Caddy back to my parents’ place.’


While Long recalls being nervous about the signals he says Madonna was sending – it was clear that she wanted to be intimate with him – he didn’t have to worry about initiating anything. She was the aggressor. ‘Are we going to do it, or not?’ she wanted to know as she removed her bra.


‘I guess so,’ Russell said, breathlessly.


‘Well, then, c’mon,’ she urged. ‘Do it!’


Years later, she would observe, ‘Even after I made love for the first time, I still felt like a virgin. I didn’t lose my virginity until I knew what I was doing.’


After that first time at the home of Long’s parents, he says, they chose the back seat of his Cadillac for future rendezvous. ‘My friends called it “the Passion Wagon”,’ he recalls.


‘She didn’t have a problem with people knowing we were having sex. Lots of girls of that age would have been embarrassed by it, or would at least not have wanted people to know. Not Madonna. She was proud of it, said that it had made her feel like a woman. She was comfortable with her body, didn’t mind being seen naked. She just seemed comfortable with all of it.’


‘I liked my body when I was growing up,’ Madonna once said in a press interview, ‘and I wasn’t ashamed of it. I liked boys and didn’t feel inhibited by them. Maybe it comes from having brothers and sharing a bathroom. The boys got the wrong impression of me at high school. They mistook forwardness for promiscuity. When they don’t get what they want, they turn on you. I went through a period when all the girls thought I was loose, and the boys thought I was a nymphomaniac. The first boy I ever slept with was my boyfriend and we’d been going out a long time.’


‘She wasn’t like most other students,’ Russell Long recalls. ‘There was a group of kids who were just the odd ones, the ones most of the students thought were sort of creepy. Madonna was in that bunch. She didn’t assimilate into the student body, rather she was one of those kids on the fringe, sort of on the sidelines smirking at everyone else.’


‘Growing up in a suburb in the Midwest was all I needed to understand that the world was divided into two categories: people who followed the status quo and played it safe, and people who threw convention out the window and danced to the beat of a different drum,’ Madonna wrote for Harper’s Bazaar in 2013. ‘I hurled myself into the second category, and soon discovered that being a rebel and not conforming doesn’t make you very popular. In fact, it does the opposite. You are viewed as a suspicious character. A troublemaker. Someone dangerous.


‘When you’re fifteen, this can feel a little uncomfortable,’ she continued. ‘Teenagers want to fit in on one hand and be rebellious on the other. Drinking beer and smoking weed in the parking lot of my high school was not my idea of being rebellious, because that’s what everybody did. And I never wanted to do what everybody did. I thought it was cooler to not shave my legs or under my arms . . . I dared people to like me and my nonconformity.’


Though a rebel at heart, Russell Long recalls Madonna also being ‘quite sensitive’. He continues, ‘We had long talks about her mother, and how much she missed her. Also, we discussed the tension that existed between her and her father. By the time she was in high school she was rebelling against him in every way, she seemed so angry at him, though I didn’t understand why. She would say, “What do you think he’d do if he knew we were having sex? Do you think it would freak him out?” And I would say, “Hell, yeah, it would freak him out.” Then she would come back with, “Well, then, maybe I should tell him.” I would say, “Madonna, no! He’ll kill me.” But my safety, or her privacy, wasn’t on her mind. If she could blow his mind, shock him, she wanted to do it. Even more than that, if she could piss him off, she wanted to do it.’ Long and Madonna continued their relationship for six months.


Russell Long, once a trucker for United Parcel Service, now lives in Seattle, Washington, and is married with grown children. ‘I wonder if he still loves me,’ Madonna once mused. Then, as if coming to her senses, she answered her own question. ‘Oh, of course he does!’


‘Sure I do,’ said Russell Long. ‘Even if she had not become famous, there’s no way I would ever have forgotten her. She was one of a kind.’







   

Christopher & Whitley


In the ninth grade, Madonna joined a high-school jazz dance class. However, with determination and dedication uncommon for a fourteen-year-old, she soon outgrew it. A friend then recommended that she consider the Christopher Flynn Dance School at the Rochester School of Ballet. Once accepted as a student, she was quickly exposed to students who were serious about the art of classical dance, ‘which was a real turn-on for me’, she has said. In his studio Christopher Flynn stressed hard work and discipline, concepts Madonna had sometimes felt the need to rebel against in her home and at school, but which she now embraced as a dance student. ‘He was very Catholic and all about rules,’ she recalls. Because she worked up to five hours a day in his class, Flynn was quickly impressed with his new student’s remarkable progress. Soon, she quit cheerleading, began to watch what she ate in order to trim her figure, and spoke of little more than her love of dance. Her enrolment at the Christopher Flynn Dance School was the first of several years of serious dance study.


Flynn the dance instructor, thirty years Madonna’s senior, was one of the first people to notice the budding ‘star quality’ in the teenage girl and, as a result, really the first to push her in the direction of a career as a performer. His enthusiasm for Madonna quickly gave her a boost of self-confidence that even the most self-assured youngster needs at that age.


Once, after a particularly gruelling dance routine, a sweaty and exhausted Madonna wrapped a towel around her head ‘swami-style’, and then gazed moodily out of the window, deep in reflection. Flynn observed his student, so lost in thought. Years later, he would recall the moment with vivid clarity.


‘My God,’ he said to her, ‘you really are beautiful.’


‘What?’ Madonna asked, wide-eyed and perhaps wanting to hear it again.


‘You have an ancient-looking face,’ he told her, ‘a face like an ancient Roman statue.’


‘Why would you say that to me?’ she asked.


‘Because it’s true,’ he answered. ‘It’s not physical beauty I’m talking about, it’s something deeper. Know it.’


‘I already know it,’ she said, speaking frankly. ‘I just wasn’t sure anyone else did.’


Years later, she would recall, ‘I was fourteen, maybe fifteen, and feeling horribly unattractive and unpopular and uninteresting and unfabulous. And Christopher said “God, you’re beautiful”. Well, no one had ever said that to me before. He told me I was special. He taught me to appreciate beauty – not beauty in the conventional sense, but rather beauty of the spirit.’


Actually, Christopher Flynn’s influence on Madonna’s life and career cannot be overestimated. ‘My whole life changed,’ Madonna has said. ‘Not just because studying dance with Christopher was so really important, but because he gave me a focus. He took me out of what I considered to be a humdrum existence.’


Flynn was happy to help encourage Madonna to her next level of her growth as a performer. After she became a star he would say of her, ‘Madonna was a blank page, believe me, and she wanted desperately to be filled in. She knew nothing at all about art, classical music, sculpture, fashion, civilization – nothing about life, really. I mean, she was just a child. But she had a burning desire to learn, that girl. She had a thirst for learning that was insatiable. It was something that would not be denied. She was a very positive young girl, always focused on what she could do to be better. She had this tremendous thirst and, really, it was insatiable.’


Christopher Flynn was also the first homosexual man with whom Madonna became close. Although she was still under age, he allowed her to accompany him to gay bars and clubs. It was there that her education began to expand beyond the scope of classical music, art and sculpture. With Flynn as her guide into the more provocative aspects of Michigan nightlife, Madonna learned a great deal in a short amount of time about eroticism and, as she later put it, ‘pushing the envelope to the point where it screams out: “stop!”’ It was much more of an education than she could ever have acquired from her home life or at school. Because of her completely uninhibited way of expression through dance, Madonna won over crowds of gay men with her campy, sexy and energetic moves. Her appreciative ‘fans’ filled her with a sense of self-confidence and energy, making her truly believe that her aspirations to be a dancer were not unwarranted.


Her French teacher, Carol Lintz, recalls that Madonna was so influenced by her experiences at the gay bars, she no longer even needed a partner to dance. ‘Something happened to her at this time, and it caused her to no longer think of dance as a social act, but rather an artistic one. There she would be, in the middle of the dance floor at one of those teen dances, by herself, dancing. People would ask me with whom she was dancing. I would answer, no one. Herself. She was dancing with herself, just for the experience.


‘I started seeing technique. I started seeing showmanship. It was a fascinating evolution.


‘When she graduated, she was given the Thespian Award for her work in the many school plays she did – so many, I can’t even remember how many, and she was always the lead . . . she wouldn’t have it any other way. She was very proud of that award. I remember, she said, “I always knew I’d get this award one day”, as though it was an Oscar. But I never thought of her as an actress. I thought of her as a dancer.’


Christopher Flynn once remembered another conversation he had with Madonna at his dance studio that, he says, ‘really clued me in on the kind of entertainer she was becoming’.


While doing stretching exercises in her black leotard, she asked Flynn, ‘Why do you think you like men?’


He answered the question by saying his sexuality was something that ‘just happened, nothing I can control’.


‘Well, I wish I understood it,’ she said.


‘Why?’


‘So that I can tap into it,’ she said. ‘Look at women like Judy Garland and Marilyn Monroe. These women are gay favourites, aren’t they? I wish I knew what it is about them. Is it the glamour? Is it their behaviour?’


‘I think it’s because they’re so tragic,’ offered Flynn. ‘I think that’s what it is. You see them and you want to slit your wrists. Every gay man has wanted to slit his wrist at one time or another. So yes,’ he decided, ‘it’s because they’re so tragic.’


Madonna stopped stretching. ‘Well, then, forget it,’ she said, looking at her dance teacher seriously. ‘I will never be tragic. If it takes being tragic to have gay fans, then fuck it. I’ll appeal only to straight people, I guess.’*


By the time seventeen-year-old Madonna graduated from Rochester Adams High School in 1976 – a half semester early due to her exceptional studies – Christopher Flynn had become a dance professor at the University of Michigan. Wanting to bring his young protégée with him to the new school, he agreed with Madonna’s high-school guidance counsellor, Nancy Ryan Mitchell, that she should audition for a scholarship there. She applied, she got it and so, in the fall of 1976, Madonna enrolled at the University of Michigan in Ann Arbor.


‘Our dad was pretty damn proud,’ says Martin Ciccone. ‘I’m not sure that Madonna knew it, though. Their relationship was strained. If she was in trouble, of course he would be there. But she was never one to admit when she was in trouble, and definitely she would not turn to our father. They argued a lot, there was such anger there from her. She was his daughter; he was an old-fashioned Italian-American man, and family meant a lot to him. But there was always this great divide between him and Madonna. He never understood her. “Break rules?” he would say. “But why? What’s wrong with the rules?” When it was time for her to go off to college, I think they were both ready for a break from each other.


‘Our father had always stressed education, though. He raised his kids to appreciate a good education. When Madonna went off to college with that scholarship, we all knew she was going to really come into her own.’


It was then, when she enrolled at the University of Michigan, that Madonna Louise Ciccone, middle child of a strict Catholic family, began her metamorphosis into ‘Madonna’, free-spirited artist.


‘I guess my immediate impression of her was a combination of fascination and intimidation,’ says Whitley Setrakian, a young, aspiring choreographer who became Madonna’s first room-mate at the University of Michigan’s Stockwell Hall, and then later at the University Towers. ‘She was beautiful. Articulate. Very, very thin. Her hair had been chopped off in a sort of odd way with little bits sticking out on the sides. She wore lots of heavy, dark eyeliner and interesting clothes, baggy T-shirts and tight pants. She was startlingly brilliant with a quick, incisive type of mind. She was very spontaneous, driven and unafraid. She had a way of owning a room when she came into it. I’ve never met anyone quite like her. Also,’ she adds with a laugh, ‘her front extensions [a dance technique] were very high, which meant a lot at the time. She was a good danscer with strong technique. She took chances. She was raw, but we were all raw then. However, if one dancer got a lot of attention and she didn’t, that made her angry and she would talk to me about it. “What does she have that I don’t have?” she would ask. She would think it was unjust that anyone got more recognition than she got. It drove her crazy that others were as good, or better, as if there was a mad race to the finish.’


Setrakian continues, ‘She worked well with Christopher Flynn, though a lot of other students didn’t. He was a delightful person, and yet scary in ballet class because if he thought you were lazy he would pinch you really hard and leave little blood blisters on you. I had some trepidation about that, but Madonna didn’t. She liked it, actually. He was flamboyant and sarcastic, like her.’


Setrakian – who worked at the same ice-cream parlour as Madonna to earn extra money – was struck by the way the seventeen-year-old Madonna gave her all to everything she did, whether it be partying or rehearsing: ‘She’d drag me out of bed. I couldn’t keep up with her,’ says Madonna’s former room-mate. ‘She was up in the morning and out the door, in class before everyone else, warming up. We’d go out dancing on Saturday nights, up all night dancing very late. She’d be up early warming up if she had a rehearsal on Sunday morning. She was not easy on herself. She lived hard and worked hard.


‘She embarked on what seemed to be a calculated campaign to be my friend,’ Setrakian recalls. ‘I resisted it at first but she won me over. She was determined to break down whatever limits and boundaries I put up. I felt she was being real with me when she would reveal herself in vulnerable ways. But yet, in the back of my mind, I would always think, “Maybe not.” I felt that there might be an element of exploitation going on, that she was using our friendship to meet her emotional needs. I felt there was something mercenary about it, but it was vague and unclear to me then. I just knew that she would expect a person to be there for her, unconditionally. However, if you had a problem and you needed her, well, she wasn’t always there.


‘We had many long talks about her mother,’ Setrakian says, ‘and about how much she missed her. She envied the relationship I had with my own mother. My mother called a lot and, when I would speak to her on the telephone, I would be aware of Madonna standing around and listening. We also talked about her father, but not much. I sensed anger from her whenever I brought up the subject.


‘We became closer after a few months. She was huggy, very touchy. I got used to it. After a while it became a part of the way we related to each other.’


In December, at the Christmas break, Whitley went to the Bahamas on a vacation with her boyfriend. Madonna spent the holiday alone at their apartment, pining for Whitley. When Whitley returned from her trip, she found on her bed a six-page handwritten letter from Madonna. In it, Madonna wrote that she ‘missed the hell’ out of Whitley. ‘I’ve realized how much I’ve grown to depend on you as a listener, advice giver and taker and general all around most wonderful, intimate friend in the whole world,’ she wrote. She mentioned that she and a female friend had gone to a bar and, because of the way they were dancing, were ‘verbally accused’ of being lesbians. In fact, wrote Madonna, she wished that she had been dancing with Whitley, not Linda. She also indicated that her rent was due, that she didn’t have the money, and didn’t know what she would do about the problem. She was so poor, she wrote, that she had taken to rummaging through garbage cans for food. She would just continue dreaming of a career in show business, she concluded, and hope for the best.


Those who knew best at this time agree that Madonna had already made up her mind to be famous for doing something and so, as a means to that end, she was completely focused on her dance curriculum. Her inborn instinct for what was right for her, and for finding people who not only believed in her but could also assist in bringing out the best in her, led her to dance professor Gay Delang’s ‘technique class’. Delang remembers her as a standout from the very beginning. ‘She had many qualities that young dancers desire. She was lean. She had a nice edge to her muscles. She was hungry. Great appetite. She was sassy, kid-like. Chewed gum. Lived on butterscotch candies. She was disciplined, hardworking. A pleasure to be with. She was young. Just a kid.’


‘All these girls would come to class with black leotards and pink tights and their hair up in buns with little flowers in it,’ Madonna has remembered of her days as a dance student. ‘So I cut my hair really short and I’d grease it so it would be sticking up, and I’d rip my tights so there were runs all over them. Anything to stand out from them and say, “I’m not like you. Okay? I’m taking dance classes and everything but I’m not stuck here like you.”’


In college, Madonna sometimes worked off campus (as in the ice-cream parlour) but, to her, survival meant getting by any way she could. Room-mate Setrakian remembers: ‘She taught me how to shoplift. One of us would make a diversion at the counter and the other would place her dance bag under the counter. Then, you’d sort of lean casually over the counter and at the height of the diversion you’d sweep your arm over the counter. Finally, the item would be in your dance bag. We got a lot of cosmetics that way, and lots of food, too. Whatever we needed. She would say, “Who needs it more than we do? When we get famous, we’ll give a lot of money to charity to make up for stealing this stuff. It all balances out with God in the bigger picture, don’t worry.”’


During her year and a half at the University of Michigan, Madonna received decent grades; she was satisfied with her work. However, the notion of graduating soon became less important to her than the idea of finally launching her dance career. She had been studying dance intensely for five years and the response to her work had been positive all around. She had gone as far as the university could take her, and now yearned to go further. Christopher Flynn’s enthusiastic encouragement, along with the admiration of her friends and room-mates, served to validate her inner voice, the one that assured her that she had something special – unique – to offer. When she sensed that it was time to move on, she saw no reason to waste time finishing her formal studies. Whitley Setrakian remembers that Madonna ‘saw better things for herself if she moved on quickly, without so much as a glance back. She wanted to be a dancer. She wanted to go to New York and get into a good company,’ she recalls. ‘It was time. She never said she wanted to be a cultural icon or anything like that. She just wanted to dance.’


From childhood, Madonna had wanted to be an actress or, to be more clear, a movie star. Now, according to what she would later explain, she reasoned that as a dancer she would eventually find an entrée into the world of dramatics. Of course, in making these decisions, she was working completely on gut instinct. Certainly, she could have migrated to the West Coast, to Hollywood – the so-called entertainment capital of the world. However, she sensed that her immediate opportunities would be found in New York, a city known for its frenetic energy, diverse cultures and pushy attitudes.


Predictably, her father Tony was most unhappy when Madonna told him that she was forsaking her scholarship to run off to New York and focus on a dancing career. ‘He was very, very upset,’ says Madonna’s brother, Martin. ‘Our stepmother backed him, of course. They both agreed that she was making a huge mistake, and they did everything they could think of to talk her out of it. There were some big battles, yes. I recall some pretty bad scenes.’


‘You drop out of school, you’ll no longer be my daughter,’ Tony told her one night over a family meal, according to a later recollection.


‘Fine,’ Madonna said, angrily. ‘But when I’m famous, will I be your daughter again? Is that how this works?’


‘We’ll cross that bridge when we come to it,’ Tony countered. ‘If we ever come to it.’


‘Oh, we’ll come to it, all right,’ Madonna said.


Contrary to what has been reported in the past, however, Tony never discouraged Madonna’s show business aspirations. Rather, he just wished for her to graduate from college first, and then, as he puts it now, ‘do whatever she wanted to do, but with an education’.


‘He would never tell her she was untalented,’ says Gina Magnetti, one of Madonna’s cousins. ‘He wasn’t the kind of father to do that. Italian parents, they generally don’t do that anyway, especially if they came from the Old Country. They support their kids’ ambitions.


‘Silvio – Uncle Tony – he wanted the best for her, big things. And, to him, that meant a college degree. Then, after that, she could have done whatever she wanted. She didn’t see it that way, however. So they fought. Madonna was so angry all the time.


‘I was at their home one night when, right in the middle of dinner, she threw a plate of spaghetti across the room. “Stop trying to run my life,” she screamed at him. The plate smashed against the wall, spaghetti and meatballs dripping down all over the floor. Everyone was shocked. Martin was there. I remember his eyes were wide, like saucers.


‘I thought Uncle Tony would have a stroke. His face got red, his blood pressure shot up and he looked like he was being stricken. Madonna got scared and ran to him.


‘Down on her knees in front of him, she started crying and apologizing. “I’m so sorry,” she kept saying. “I didn’t mean it. I didn’t mean it.” An apology to her father? Why, that was a major concession on her part.


‘And then he started crying, patting her head, and saying, “No, I’m sorry. I’m the one who’s sorry.”


‘There was always big drama between them, and she was the one who always instigated it. It was as if she felt that she and her father had to have these big scenes in order to validate their love for one another.’









   

Finally . . . New York City!


Whether it’s all true or not – and with the always imaginative Madonna one can never really be certain – the story, or legend, of Madonna’s arrival in New York City on that morning in July 1978 is a good one. Intent on her easily saleable image as a modern-day Cinderella, she has often recalled leaving Detroit Metropolitan Airport – her first flight – and arriving in the city with nothing but thirty-five dollars in her pocket, a winter coat on her back, a duffel bag full of ballet tights slung over her shoulder . . . and a determination to do something significant with her life, to succeed. ‘Ten summers ago,’ she announced in 1988 to a cheering crowd at the premiere of her film, Who’s That Girl?, ‘I made my first trip to New York. My first plane ride, my first cab ride. I didn’t know where I was going. I didn’t know a soul. And I told the taxicab driver to drop me off in the middle of everything, so he dropped me off at Times Square. I was completely awestruck.’


‘The tall buildings and the massive scale of New York took my breath away,’ she would say in 2013. ‘The sizzling-hot sidewalks and the noise of the traffic and the electricity of the people rushing by me on the streets was a shock to my neurotransmitters. I felt like I had plugged into another universe. I felt like a warrior plunging my way through the crowds to survive. Blood pumping through my veins, I was poised for survival. I felt alive. But,’ she also allowed, ‘I was also scared shitless and freaked out by the smell of piss and vomit everywhere, especially in the entryway of my third-floor walk-up. And all the homeless people on the street. This wasn’t anything I prepared for in Rochester, Michigan.’


Madonna would manage to survive on her wits. As legend has it, she roamed the strange, frenetic city on that first day until finally ending up at a street fair on Lexington Avenue, where she noticed a man following her. Instead of fleeing, as most young women in a new city might, Madonna greeted him. ‘Why are you wearing that coat?’ he asked her, giving her a cue to launch into her ‘story’.


‘Hi! I just arrived in town and I don’t have a place to stay,’ she said. It was a story that had had some rehearsal time; she had already tried it on other disinterested strangers. Still, Madonna’s intensity must have made it seem compelling to this particular passer-by because she ended up moving into his apartment and, according to her, sleeping on his couch. Home at last.


Madonna soon learned, however, that a young woman could not always be so trusting of people, particularly of men she might meet on the streets of New York. Years later, she revealed that she’d been raped in Manhattan at this time. ‘I have been raped and it is not an experience I would ever glamorize,’ she said. The subject came up while she was discussing scenes from her controversial book of nude studies entitled Sex. One photograph depicts Madonna dressed in a schoolgirl’s uniform while being attacked by two boys. She insisted that the photograph was pure fantasy. ‘I know there are a lot of women who have that fantasy of being overpowered by two men or a group of men,’ she explained.


At that time, Madonna didn’t give any date or details of her own experience, saying only that, ‘It happened a long time ago so over the years I’ve come to terms with it. In a way it was a real eye-opening experience. I’d only lived in New York for a year and I was very young, very trusting of people.’


‘I remember her saying something about it,’ her longtime friend Erica Bell recalls. ‘But it wasn’t something I felt she wanted to discuss openly. I think it was a date rape, meaning I think she knew the guy. It was someone who betrayed her confidence, her faith. It must have been devastating.’


Says another friend – a woman who still knows Madonna today and in whom she often confides, ‘The date rape was something she never wanted to talk about. But when it did come up, you could tell that she was deeply affected by whatever happened. She cried when she spoke of it, as if she had been traumatized. She said, “I wanted to call my father and tell him about it, maybe go home for a while. But he would have killed me.” I felt that she needed her father at that time, but was afraid to turn to him. I know she could have used a mother, as well. These were lonely years.’


Her former manager Freddy DeMann adds, ‘I remember a time, long after her first taste of fame, when a girl in one of her audiences was being pushed around by some guys in front, trying to get closer to her [Madonna]. Suddenly, the girl went down, into the crowd. It was as if she was going to get stomped. Then, a couple of guys went down after her, and none of them came up. Madonna was watching the whole thing. She stopped the show, stopped singing, and called security out and told them to help that young girl. “I know what it’s like to feel powerless,” she said from the stage. “And it doesn’t feel good.” I’ll never forget that night. I felt that she had great empathy for that girl, and a certain amount of fear, too.’


As it turns out, it wasn’t a ‘date rape’ at all. Many years later, in 2013, in an essay Madonna wrote for Harper’s Bazaar, she said, ‘I was held up at gunpoint. Raped on the roof of a building I was dragged up to with a knife in my back.’ She told a little bit of a different story to Howard Stern three years later in 2016, explaining that she needed money for a pay phone. A stranger told her she could use the phone in his house across the street. That’s where he raped her, she said. Or, she may have meant he raped her on the way to his house. Specific details aside – and one might imagine that she need not be consistent with the public about such an attack – she also said she didn’t report the rape because, ‘you’ve already been violated. It’s just not worth it. It’s too much humiliation.’ She blamed her ‘stupid friendliness. I trusted everybody. The rest is not worth talking about.’ (It’s interesting that she has reframed her life at this time in a way that includes the notion of her trusting ‘everybody’. In fact, the evidence shows that she was not that trusting a person and, if anything, had a healthy scepticism and even cynicism about most people.)


‘I don’t want to make it an issue,’ Madonna also said about the rape. ‘I’ve had what a lot of people would consider to be horrific experiences in my life. But I don’t want people to feel sorry for me because I don’t.’ She concluded that the experience had made her ‘much more street smart and savvy. It was devastating at the time but it made me a survivor.’







   

Pearl


After a few weeks, Madonna moved out of her benefactor’s home – for reasons as unknown now as her destination was then – and she was on her own, again. She moved into a dilapidated fourth-floor walk-up at 232 East Fourth Street between Avenues A and B, truly just barely fit for human occupation.


She survived by taking any odd job available, such as working in a series of fast food chains, or simply by taking the easy way out: asking her friends for handouts. Later she would tell the press that she ate from garbage cans, though some close to her at the time have disputed this memory.* Food did not concern her, anyway. She preferred to eat at irregular hours, a banana for breakfast, an apple for lunch, perhaps some yogurt as a snack. Any hardships she experienced at this time were, in her view, just annoying distractions. After all, as she would explain it, she was in New York to dance – not eat. She didn’t waste time on unrealistic planning ahead, or optimistic dreaming, either. She had a goal, and she went after it.


‘I was defiant,’ she would recall. ‘Hell-bent on surviving. On making it. But it was hard and it was lonely and I had to dare myself every day to keep going. Sometimes I would play the victim and cry in my shoe box of a bedroom with a window that faced a wall, watching pigeons shit on my windowsill. And I wondered if it was all worth it . . .’


In November 1978, Madonna auditioned for the highly respected Pearl Lang Dance Company. On that day, she brought with her the emerging ‘Madonna persona’. Immediately, Pearl Lang – a former dance soloist with Martha Graham – recognized her as being unique. ‘She came in wearing this T-shirt that was torn all the way down the back,’ Lang recalls. ‘And she had this enormous safety pin – it must have been a foot long – holding it together. I thought if she doesn’t poke her partner’s eye out, she’ll do something with her dancing one day.’


Madonna was one of several people chosen from those who had auditioned for Lang’s company. Her freestyle dance was impressive simply by virtue of its wild abandon. After the audition, Lang recalls walking over to Madonna until her face was just inches away from the young girl’s. It was as if the instructor wanted to get a closer look. Then, studying her carefully, she stroked Madonna’s face: ‘My dear, you have something special,’ she whispered to her, taking her hand.


‘I know,’ Madonna replied.


As Madonna pulled away, Pearl relinquished her hold unwillingly, as if she wanted another moment to study the young woman before her.


‘She was an exceptional dancer,’ Pearl Lang recalled. ‘Many dancers can kick and exhibit acrobatic body control, but that is just run-of-the-mill, taken for granted. Madonna had the power, the intensity to go beyond mere physical performance into something far more exciting. That intensity is the first thing I look for in a dancer, and Madonna had it.’


Clearly, Madonna had won over choreographer Lang just as she had already won over others – such as Christopher Flynn – who would assist her in shaping her talent, guiding her towards her goal and becoming her mentors. As her skills broadened, she became an assistant to Lang. ‘I actually started to rely on her quite a bit,’ says Lang. ‘She was organized, professional and very serious, at first. But then, after a few weeks, I noticed that she was feeling stifled by the regiment of my teachings. She was annoyed when I pushed her for more.’


‘I accused her of not wanting to work hard, and she lashed out at me,’ Pearl Lang recalled. ‘I knew she would have trouble being a dancer in any troupe because she was such an individual. It wasn’t really a matter of working hard; she worked hard. But not in a way that gave me hope that she could blend with others.


‘When she continued questioning me, well, that was it, really. At one point, after I gave her some advice, she curtsied and, in the most spiteful tone I had ever heard from a student, said, “Why thank you ever so, Lady Hateful.” I believe it was then that I asked her – told her – to leave.’


Soon after her experience with Pearl Lang, Madonna was accepted for a brief workshop at the world-renowned Alvin Ailey Dance Company. But even with this happy coup, it was becoming clear that all of the determination, desire and pizzazz she could muster would not immediately guarantee her a place in the highly competitive world of New York dance. Though completely dedicated to her craft – mind, body and soul into dancing – Madonna found herself once again counting out change behind the counter of a local doughnut shop in order to make ends meet. She also worked in the prestigious Russian Tea Room restaurant in Manhattan as a hat-check girl.


Gregory Camillucci, former manager of the restaurant, recalls, ‘She was a frail girl, very thin. I often thought that the meals she had at the restaurant were probably the only meals she was eating. But she was upbeat, never rude, always on time. At the beginning of her short time there, I caught her staring at the customers. “I watch rich people eating and drinking,” she explained, “so that when I can afford to, I can do it right.” However, it wasn’t long before she became bored by rich people’s eating habits. You then had a sense that she wasn’t going to last long. “This is not what I came to New York to do,” I once heard her grumble.’


After Madonna had been in New York for several months, her father, Tony, paid a visit to the dilapidated walk-up on Fourth and Avenue B.


‘I didn’t want him to come,’ Madonna remembered years later. ‘The apartment was crawling with cockroaches. There were winos in the hallway. The entire place smelled like stale beer.’


‘What is going to happen if this fool’s dream of yours doesn’t work out?’ Tony asked her, he recollected many years later. Father and daughter were sitting in an Italian restaurant on Eighty-First Street. Madonna was eating spaghetti and clams, and with such fervour it was as if she hadn’t enjoyed a good meal in many months. ‘Please come back home,’ Tony said. ‘I miss you so much, Nonnie.’


‘I love you, Dad,’ Madonna said. ‘But I just can’t come home.’


‘Look at how you’re living,’ he told her, trying to reason with her. ‘In a roach motel. Like a bum, you’re livin’.’


‘No,’ she said, correcting him. ‘Like a dancer, Daddy. Like a dancer, I’m livin’. Now, just leave me alone.’


The hard fact, of course, was that dancing jobs were really scarce, even in – and maybe especially in – Manhattan. Competition was stiff from agile, talented dancers whose own intense hunger and drive most certainly matched Madonna’s.


‘I’d go to the Lincoln Center, sit by a fountain and just cry,’ she once recalled. ‘I’d write in my little journal and pray to have even one friend. I had been used to being the big fish in the little pond and all of a sudden I was nobody. But never once did it ever occur to me to go back. Never.’


‘Oh, please, she never sat by a fountain and cried,’ says her brother Martin. ‘She never wrote in some diary about her loneliness and pain. And she had loads of friends. She took those years, hard as they were – I mean, she had a lot of despair and I don’t want to say she didn’t, you know? But she later made it all just a part of the glamorous legend that is my sister. That’s what she does best, she creates legend.


‘I remember that after my father visited her, he said, “Either she will be the greatest dancer who ever lived, or she will be the biggest fool.” She turned out to be neither, of course.’









   

Busting Out


By the beginning of 1979, Madonna – who would turn twenty-one that year – realized that it could take five more years for her to be accepted into a major touring dance company. She knew that the solution to her dilemma was obvious: she would have to diversify, expand her horizons, maybe even change her vision if she was going to survive in New York.


Ever true to her character, Madonna would not waste much time strategizing her next move. She needed a vehicle that would showcase her extraordinary charisma. She needed a forum, a venue. In order to earn extra money, Madonna began posing in the nude for art classes. She had heard that it was an easy way to make money and, as she later recalled, ‘I was so broke and desperate, I would have done almost anything. And I thought it might give me a new thing, that maybe I might become a model. Who knows?’


Anthony Panzera, one of the artists for whom she posed, recalls that he was unhappy with Madonna’s appearance when she showed up at his studio on West Twenty-Ninth Street after having answered an advertisement.


‘I was hoping for someone a little less boy like,’ he said, as he got ready to send her on her way.


Perhaps sensing imminent rejection, Madonna unbuttoned her blouse and exposed her breasts. ‘Do boys have these?’ she asked. Then, without hesitation, she slipped out of her jeans. Once naked, she blithely asked, ‘Now, just tell me where to pose.’


‘What’s your name?’ he asked.


‘Madonna.’


‘No last name?’


‘Do I look like I need a last name?’ she said as she stood before him, unclothed. She grabbed her breasts and pushed them up, then out towards him.


‘Her answer made no sense,’ the artist now recalls, ‘but yet, somehow it made all the sense in the world.


‘It was basically seven dollars an hour in those days, and that was a lot for her. She needed the money, that’s for sure.


‘What I most remember about her is that she never seemed to have a place to live that she could call her own. So if you wanted to find her, you’d have to call a series of numbers she had left. “In the morning,” she said, “you can reach me here,” and she’d hand you one number scribbled on a piece of paper. “Then, at night, try this number,” she’d say, and then stuff another piece of paper in your hand. “But sometimes, I’m staying here, and other times, there,” and she’d hand you two more numbers. It was absolutely impossible to find her. She was a vagabond. But when you did find her, she was a good model, very cooperative, always willing to do energetic, enthusiastic poses.’
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